007

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,831 Florida Bar No: 184170

FRANCINE DAMIANO, individually) and derivatively, ALFRED) DAMIANO, her husband,) individually and derivatively,) ANTHONY DAMIANO, MICHELLE) DAMIANO and CHRISTINE DAMIANO,) minors, individually, by and) through their parents and) next friend,)

Petitioners,

78 .

GROVER MCDANIEL, M.D., GROVER MCDANIEL, M.D., P.A., and COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTERS OF SOUTH FLORIDA, INC., f/k/a BROWARD COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTER, INC., a Florida corporation,

Respondents.

oliginal

FILED STD J. WHITE JUL 8 1996

OLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cliffel Deputy Blonk

INTRODUCTION

The Appellants/Petitioners, ALFRED DAMIANO, as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRANCINE DAMIANO, deceased, ALFRED DAMIANO, individually, ANTHONY DAMIANO, MICHELLE DAMIANO, and CHRISTINE DAMIANO, minors, individually, and by and through their parent and next friend, will be referred to collectively in the singular as Damiano.

The Appellees/Respondents, GROVER McDANIEL, M.D., and GROVER McDANIEL, M.D., P.A., will be referred to as Dr. McDaniel.

The Appellee/Respondent, COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTERS OF SOUTH FLORIDA, INC., f/k/a BROWARD COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTER, INC., a Florida corporation, will be referred to as Blood Bank.

The Record on Appeal will be designated by the Letter "R."

The hearing transcripts appearing at the end of the Record on Appeal will be referred to by date.

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

-1-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

This case is on a certified question, and is a case of first impression in the Florida Supreme Court; involving Mrs. Damiano, who contracted AIDS through an unnecessary blood transfusion during the delivery of her twins. Mrs. Damiano has since died and her husband is currently dying of AIDS as well. The legal issue involves the statute of repose in AIDS cases where notice of injury does not take place during the statutory period.

The question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal is as follows:

IS THE MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF REPOSE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED, AS A VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, IN BARRING AN ACTION FOR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE WHERE THE INJURY, RESULTING IN AIDS, DOES NOT MANIFEST ITSELF WITHIN THE STATUTORY FOUR YEAR TERM FROM THE DATE OF THE INCIDENT RESULTING IN THE SUBSEQUENT INFECTION?

Damiano v. McDaniel, 21 Fla. L. Weekly, D852 (Fla. 4th DCA, April 10, 1996).

In 1990, Mrs. Damiano was diagnosed as having AIDS and after it was established that the AIDS was transmitted through a blood transfusion she received in June 1986, she sued the physician and the Blood Bank. The transfusion was ordered by Dr. McDaniel. The Blood Bank had notice within months of the transfusion that recipients like Mrs. Damiano were exposed to AIDS, but this information was not released to anyone. Damiano filed suit in 1992 within the two-year statute of limitations. The doctor moved for Summary Judgment based on the fact that the Complaint

-2-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

was not filed within the four-year statute of repose. This Court was about to decide this exact issue in <u>Whigham</u>, <u>infra</u>, when the <u>Whigham</u> case was settled and voluntarily dismissed from the Supreme Court. This is the first opportunity that this Court has to rule on the precise question of whether the four-year statute of repose violates the Florida Constitution, when it bars an action or injury which will not and cannot manifest itself within the statutory four-year period.

The trial judge very reluctantly granted Summary Judgment for the doctor, after the <u>Whigham</u> case was settled in the Supreme Court. The judge stated that the Summary Judgment was unfair and unjust, but that the court was bound by "stare decisis," due to appellate decisions in the First and Third District Courts of Appeal. The trial judge agreed with the dissented opinions in those appellate cases, but left it to this Court to decide, as he must.

Mrs. Damiano went into the hospital to deliver her twin children, Christine and Michelle Damiano, on June 13, 1986 (R 1-40; 158-192). On June 14th, Dr. McDaniel delivered one of the twins by natural methods, but had to perform a cesarean for the delivery of the second twin (R 1-40; 158-192). On June 15, 1986 following the normal delivery of the twins, Dr. McDaniel ordered repeat blood transfusions for Mrs. Damiano, even though she was not in a life threatening situation and even know he was fully aware of the risk of HIV contaminated blood (R 140; 158-192). The blood supplied by the Blood Bank included a third unit of

-3-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

blood, which was contaminated and infected with the HIV/AIDS virus (R 1-40; 158-192).

Mrs. Damiano and her twins were discharged from the hospital and returned home. Mrs. Damiano was completely unaware of the fact that she had received contaminated blood (R 1-40; 158-192). Also, completely unknown to Mrs. Damiano, she infected and transmitted the AIDS disease to her husband, Alfred (R 1-40; 158-192).

In the meantime the Blood Bank, which did not have any "look back" procedure in effect, failed to notify the hospital; which in turn would have notified the doctor that Mrs. Damiano had received contaminated blood (R 1-40; 158-192). Apparently, the Blood Bank knew in October of 1986, shortly after Mrs. Damiano's hospitalization, that one of the units it supplied was contaminated with AIDS, but did not inform anyone (R 1-40; 158-192).

AIDS is a latent condition and its presence is only manifested after a slowly evolving process. Because of the latent characteristics of the disease, Mr. and Mrs. Damiano had absolutely no way of knowing about their being infected; and, of course, could subsequently not take any legal action to protect their legal rights (R 1-40; 158-192).

In August of 1990, Mrs. Damino discovered that she had contracted AIDS, and that the infection was due to the blood transfusion she received in the hospital in 1986 (R 1-40; 158-192). One week following her notification that she was HIV positive, her husband was also advised that he too was HIV

-4-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

positive (R 1-40; 158-192).

On February 25, 1992, the Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Intent to Sue, which was served on Dr. McDaniel (R 212-236). This was followed by an Amended Notice of Intent filed on March 2, 1992 (R 212-236). Pursuant to Fla. Stat. §768.57, the statute of limitations was tolled for a period of 90 days and the Damiano Complaint was timely filed on June 26, 1992 (R 1-40; 158-192).

Dr. McDaniel moved for Summary Judgment on the basis that the statute of repose had run under the new Florida Supreme Court case <u>Kush v. Lloyd</u>, 616 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1992). With in days of McDaniel's Motion for Summary Judgment, the First District Court of Appeal decided a trio of lawsuits against Shands Hospital in Orlando, holding that even though the plaintiffs had no notice of their injury, the infection of AIDS, their complaints were barred by the statute of repose since they were filed beyond the fouryear period. <u>Whigham v. Shands Teaching Hospital & Clinics,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 613 So. 2d 110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Padgett v. Shands</u> <u>Teaching Hospital & Clinics, Inc.</u>, 616 So. 2d 467 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); <u>Doe v. Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinics, Inc.</u>, 614 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993).

The Plaintiffs filed a Response to the doctor's Motion for Summary Judgment, noting that in no Florida Supreme Court case had the Court ever held that the statute of repose barred a medical malpractice action, when factually the plaintiff did not have notice of the injury (R 212; 236). Furthermore, in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, the law was that there had to be

-5-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

notice of injury which was a completed fact, and in the present situation there could be no completed fact until the summer of 1990, when Mrs. Damiano first developed symptoms and was diagnosed with AIDS (R 212-236). If the court were to hold that the statute of repose barred the Damianos' Complaints against Dr. McDaniel then this would be in clear violation of the Florida Constitution, and the Supreme Court's decisions in <u>Overland</u> <u>Construction Company v. Sirmons</u>, 369 So. 2d 572 (Fla. 1979) and <u>Diamond v. E. R. Squibb & Sons, Inc.</u>, 397 So. 2d 671 (Fla. 1981) (R 212-236). Furthermore, the Damianos argued that there was an important distinction between delayed discovery and delayed notice of injury, asserting that the dissenting opinion of Judge Ervin in the <u>Doe</u> case was the correct way to view Florida law, and therefore Dr. McDaniel's Motion for Summary Judgment should be denied (R 212-236).

The hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment was held on May 23, 1994 (H 5/23/94, 1-28). Dr. McDaniel, of course, argued that under the recent First District Court of Appeal cases, as well as the Supreme Court decision in <u>Kush</u>, the Damiano Complaint filed in 1992 was outside the four-year statute of repose period and therefore Dr. McDaniel was entitled to a Summary Judgment in his favor (H 5/23/94, 2-10). The Defendant noted that there was no Fourth District Court of Appeal case directly on point, but urged the court to follow the decisions out of two other district courts. By this point in time, a Third District Court of Appeal decision had been issued in <u>Dampf v. Furst</u>, 624 So. 2d 368 (Fla.

-6-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

3d DCA 1993). Therefore, McDaniel argued that the trial court was bound to follow the decisions out of the First and Third Districts, as well as the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Kush</u>, <u>supra</u>, and enter Summary Judgment for the Defendant doctor (H 5/23/94, 2-10).

The Plaintiffs responded that there was no case out of the Fourth District, but that the Fourth District had issued a decision six months after Kush. It was clear that in this District the notice of injury must be a completed fact before the complaint could be barred, relying on <u>Kahler v. Kent</u>, 616 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993) (H 5/23/94, 10-12). Furthermore, none of the Supreme Court cases involve the situation in the Damiano case, where there was no notice of injury until the statute of repose period had run. Since the Supreme Court had accepted certiorari in one of the First District Court of Appeal cases, Whigham, it was clear that the Supreme Court was concerned that perhaps the statute of repose in AIDS cases required a different legal analysis (H 5/23/94, 11-17). The Plaintiffs urged that the court adopt the dissenting opinion in the Doe v. Shands case, to hold that the application of the statute of repose to bar a cause of action before it ever accrued was unconstitutional (H 5/23/94, 17).

Finally, in the AIDS situation, the court was dealing with a lawsuit that was a mix of a products liability case and a medical malpractice action. To bar the Damiano's Complaint would result in the anomalous situation that the Blood Bank could be held

-7-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

liable because there was no violation of the product liability statute of repose; but the doctor, who ordered the blood and who should have known it was not necessary, could not be sued under the malpractice statute of repose (H 5/23/94, 17-18). After further argument back and forth, the judge took the case under advisement (H 5/23/94, 18-27).

In August of 1994, the trial judge asked the parties to return to court and reargue the case again, because the judge was totally baffled by the situation (H 8/17/94, 3). Once again, the Plaintiffs asserted that since the Supreme Court had never overruled the <u>Diamond</u> case, under <u>Diamond</u> the statute of repose could not bar the Plaintiff's action (H 8/17/94, 3-6). Furthermore, in the Supreme Court cases relied on by McDaniels, again, in every single one of those cases the plaintiff was on notice of the injury long before the statute of repose period ran, a fact that this did not exist in the Damiano case (H 8/17/94, 6-9). The trial court then inquired if Mrs. Damiano, who had contracted AIDS had died, and whether this was a wrongful death action, and he was told that it was; and that Mr. Damiano had also contracted AIDS, but was still alive (H 8/17/94, 9-10).

Dr. McDaniel again argued that, even if the statute of repose barred a claim when there was absolutely no notice of any injury, the Supreme Court in <u>Kush</u> had put an absolute time limit beyond which malpractice actions could not be filed (H 8/17/94, 10-11). McDaniel also argued that in the Third District's decision in <u>Dampf</u>, the court had rejected the fact that the

-8-

Supreme Court's decision in <u>Diamond</u> could be applied in a malpractice situation, and that the Supreme Court had refused to review the Third District's decision in <u>Dampf</u> (H 8/17/94, 11-12). Furthermore, the <u>Whigham</u> case, which had been proceeding in the Supreme Court, was settled and therefore there would be no decision from the Supreme Court (H 8/17/94, 11-12). Therefore, based on the four District Court cases, it does not involve a products liability situation such as <u>Diamond</u> and Summary Judgment had to be entered for Dr. McDaniel (H 8/17/94, 12-16).

The trial court then asked each side to research and give it a brief memo on a Utah Supreme Court case, which had held the statute of repose unconstitutional if it did not toll for minority (H 8/17/94, 16).

The Plaintiffs filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Law urging the court to adopt the rational in Lee v. Gaufin, 867 P.2d 572 (Utah 1993), and that there should be a tolling provision in the statute of repose for the unusual circumstances involving those infected with AIDS (R 256-267). Since the notice of injury to Mrs. Damiano was not a completed fact until 1990, to apply the statute of repose would be unconstitutional; and Dr. McDaniel had not shown how the elimination of all AIDS claims like the Damianos' would reduce the malpractice crisis sufficient to uphold the four-year statute of repose (R 256-267). The Damianos also asserted that the AIDS plaintiffs, as a class, were being excluded from recovery, since it was undisputed that the AIDS virus could incubate for an indeterminate period of time, as

-9-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A. SUITE 302, 1777 SOUTH ANDREWS AVE., FORT LAUDERDALE, FLA. 33316 •TEL. (954) 525 - 5885

SUITE 207, BISCAYNE BUILDING, 19 WEST FLAGLER STREET, MIAMI, FLA. 33130 + TEL. (305) 940 - 7557

short as one-year and maybe even as long as 14 years; and because of the inherent latency, HIV would likely go undetected for a period of time longer than the statute of repose. Therefore, the arbitrary application of the four-year statute of repose to AIDS plaintiffs was unconstitutional (R 256-267). The Damianos discussed the fact that the Supreme Court had created this anomalous situation when an AIDS patient has a products liability lawsuit against the Blood Blank with no statute of repose, but a malpractice lawsuit against the doctor who ordered the blood unit and administrated it in spite of the danger of transmission of AIDS, but had to file this claim within the four-year statute of repose (R 256-267).

Finally, the Damianos point out that while the Supreme Court had talked about the fact that a statute of repose could cut off a cause of action before it accrued, in dicta in several cases, the Supreme Court had never actually held this in any case involving malpractice, when there was no notice of injury within the four-year repose period (R 256-267).

Dr. McDaniel replied to the Plaintiffs' Supplemental Memo arguing that the <u>Lee</u> case had absolutely nothing to do with the present situation since that involved minority, and in no way changed the fact that Dr. McDaniel was entitled to a Summary Judgment under the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Kush</u> and the District Court opinions in the four AIDS cases (R 268-275).

Reluctantly, the trial court entered an Order granting Dr. McDaniel's Motion for Summary Judgment, noting that it was unfair

-10-

and unjust, but that the trial court was bound by the District Court opinions from the First and Third Districts (R 276-285). The statute and all the relevant case law was reviewed in the trial court's Order and it rejected the application of the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Diamond</u>, on the basis of the First District's decision in <u>Whigham</u>; which held that the AIDS situation was within the contemplation of the legislature when it passed the four-year statute of repose in the 1970's (R 276-285). The court then held that it was granting Dr. McDaniel's Motion for Summary Judgment based on the doctrine of "stare decisis," which required it to follow the appellate court decisions, since there was no decision out of the Fourth District (R 268-275).

However, the court's legal opinion was summaried as follows:

However, this Court agrees with Judge Wolf's dissenting (sic) opinion in <u>Whigham</u>. Judge Wolf stated "it is difficult for me to understand how a statute which extinguishes a common law right of action prior to the accrual of such action cannot be repugnant to the right of access to courts guaranteed by article I, section 21 of the Constitution of the State of Florida." Id. at 114. In addition, this Court strongly agrees with Justice Kogan's dissenting opinion in Kush v. Lloyd, 616 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1992). Justice Kogan stated that it is unreasonable to suggest a person is under an obligation to discover within the time allocated under statute of repose an ailment which may not yet transpire.

(R 276-285).

The Plaintiffs filed a timely Notice of Appeal, so that the appellate court would be given the opportunity to rule on the issue and to adopt the opinions of Justice Kogan, Judge Wolf,

-11-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

Judge Ervin, and the trial court, Judge Luzzo.

The Fourth District noted that the Florida Supreme Court had never ruled on whether the statute of repose would apply to a disease which usually does not manifest itself until after the statutory period, and certified this question to the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Damiano, supra</u>. The entire opinion is in the Appendix to this Brief.

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case is on a certified question from the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and is a case of first impression in the Supreme Court. On June 15, 1986, Mrs. Damiano received three units of blood, one was tainted with AIDS, after she delivered twins. The transfusion was ordered by the Defendant, Doctor McDaniel. The Blood Bank had notice within months of the transfusion that Mrs. Damiano was exposed to AIDS, but the information was not released to her. In 1990, Mrs. Damiano was diagnosed with AIDS and later her husband was also diagnosed with AIDS. Mr. and Mrs. Damiano sued in June of 1992, well within the two-year statute of limitations period. Mrs. Damiano died on February 2, 1993, and the Complaint was amended to bring a wrongful death action against Dr. McDaniel.

The Plaintiffs' Complaint was not barred by the four-year statute of repose, as notice of her injury was not a completed fact until 1990. The application of the statute of repose under the facts and circumstances of this case is unconstitutional and the Summary Judgment must be reversed. Dr. McDaniel never showed any rational basis for application of the four-year statute of repose in this case and did not show how the elimination of all AIDS claims, like Mrs. Damiano's, will somehow reduce the medical malpractice crisis, medical insurance premiums, or provide better and cheaper health care in Florida today. The Motion for Summary Judgment must be reversed based on the law in this District and the Florida Supreme Court.

-13-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

In the AIDS situation, the patient has absolutely no idea whatsoever that they are infected, since the virus sometimes does not even manifest itself for over a year, and sometimes up to 14 years. Therefore in the absence of notification from the blood bank that they had been exposed to AIDS, the vast majority, if not all, of the AIDS' patients will have absolutely no notice of any injury whatsoever within the four-year statute of repose period. To completely eliminate this entire class of plaintiffs, on the alleged basis that the elimination of AIDS claims will somehow reduce medical malpractice premiums, is unconstitutional, violative of equal protection, and equal access to courts under the Florida Constitution. <u>Overland; Diamond; supra</u>.

The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal is in the Appendix to this Brief.

Additionally, it should be pointed out that the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal has recently addressed this question, and ruled that the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the patient develops AIDS. <u>New v. Armour</u> <u>Pharmaceutical Co.</u>, 58 F.3d 445 (9th Cir. 1995).

-14-

LAW OFFICES RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P. A.

ARGUMENT

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