### A32743-7/SHL/vsc/250655

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 87,831 4TH DCA CASE NO. 96-0068

FILED SHD J. WHITE JUL 29 1996

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Cittor Donuty Mork

ALFRED DAMIANO as Personal Representative of the Estate of FRANCINE DAMIANO, deceased, ALFRED DAMIANO, individually, ANTHONY DAMIANO, MICHELLE DAMIANO, and CHRISTINE DAMIANO, minors, individually, by and through their parent and next friend,

Petitioners,

vs.

GROVER McDANIEL, M.D., GROVER McDANIEL, M.D., P.A., and COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTERS OF SOUTH FLORIDA, INC., f/k/a BROWARD COMMUNITY BLOOD CENTER, INC., a Florida corporation, jointly and severally,

Respondents.

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

Mrs. Damiano was immediately referred to an infectious disease specialist, Dr.

Gomez. (S.R. 32)

One week following Mrs. Damiano's diagnosis, her husband also tested

positive for the HIV virus. (S.R. 29). In May, 1990, Mrs. Damiano and Dr.

Gomez reconfirmed the conclusion that the source of the infection was the 1986

blood transfusion. (S.R. 36)

- Q. So, again with Dr. Gomez in May of 1990, in terms of your answers to his questions, the only likely source of infection that the two of you could come up with would have been the blood transfusions that you received in June of 1986?
- A. That's correct. (S.R. 36)

Dr. Gomez prescribed AZT treatment for Mrs. Damiano in May, 1990. (S.R. 33)

A notice of intent to sue was served February 25, 1992. The instant action was originally filed on June 27, 1992. (R. 1-40) Both events occurred more than four years from the date of the 1986 blood transfusion.

Damiano's complaint alleges only a claim of simple negligence against Dr.

McDaniel for ordering a blood transfusion. (R. 1-40) Damiano does not allege

that Dr. McDaniel committed any fraud, concealment, or intentional misrepresentation regarding the wholesomeness of the blood which was supplied during the transfusion. Indeed, the unit of blood would not have been released for transfusion if the HIV testing done after donation proved to be positive for HIV. Petitioner does not allege that the HIV test result was improperly performed by the blood bank. Instead, the complaint alleges that the Blood Center<sup>1</sup> had a non-existent and/or ineffective "lookback" procedure and, as a result, the Blood Center failed to notify either the hospital and/or the doctor when it was discovered that this blood was contaminated.<sup>2</sup> Allegations are also made that the Blood Center negligently and/or intentionally concealed from Mrs. Damiano that she had received contaminated blood because of the poor "lookback" procedures. (R. 59-96) There

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Community Blood Centers of South Florida, Inc., f/k/a Broward Community Blood Center, Inc., provided the blood which was transfused. The Blood Center remains as a defendant in the lawsuit. Broward General Hospital, where Mrs. Damiano was hospitalized, has never been joined as a defendant. The American Association of Blood Banks was recently added as a Defendant by order of the trial court dated June 6, 1996.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The term "lookback" refers to the procedure that a blood bank should follow when a donor tests positive for HIV/AIDS when presenting for a repeat donation. The blood bank was duty bound to initiate a "lookback" when a donor tested positive for HIV on a subsequent donation by notifying the hospital where the blood was consigned in an effort to contact the blood recipient for the purpose of advising the recipient to be tested for HIV. *Estate of Blaine E. Hoyle v. American Red Cross*, 149 F.R.D. 215, 217, fn. 2 (Utah 1993). This <u>does not</u> mean that the HIV testing (which was state-of-the-art in 1986) was improperly performed on the blood that was initially donated and which was received by Damiano. It means that in all likelihood the donor had not formed enough antibodies to the presence of HIV to test positive on the ELISA assay (seroconvert from negative to positive). The implicated donor was in the "window period" of time for the transition of seroconversion to occur and sometime thereafter the donor became positive.

are no allegations that Dr. McDaniel had any involvement and/or awareness of the lookback results. Indeed, the parties agree that Dr. McDaniel had no knowledge of the blood's contamination prior to suit.

For convenience, the time of the relevant events is summarized:

#### DATE EVENT

- 6/15/86 Blood transfusion. Damiano consented to a transfusion with the knowledge that the HIV virus and/or AIDS can be transmitted. (S.R. 132)
- 4/90 The Damianos learn that they are both HIV positive and the virus was contracted from the 1986 blood transfusion. (S.R. 24-25, 27-29, 31, 36)

5/90 Mrs. Damiano begins treatment with AZT. (S.R. 33)

6/15/90 Statute of repose expires.

2/25/92 Notice of Intent to Sue is served.

6/27/92 Suit is filed. (R. 1-40)

Dr. McDaniel originally moved to dismiss the complaint. (R. 41-43) The motion alleged that this lawsuit was barred by the statute of repose because it was filed more than four years after the date of the incident out of which the cause of action arose. The motion also asserted that the seven-year repose provisions were inapplicable because of the absence of any fraudulent concealment by Dr. McDaniel, and, further, that actions by the Blood Center could not affect the statute of repose as to Dr. McDaniel. The trial court granted this motion to dismiss and entered an order which stated that "the allegations of concealment which would extend the statute of limitations in this case relate only to defendant Community Blood Centers of South Florida, Inc. There is no allegation that any knowledge

came to the attention of these defendants [Dr. McDaniel or his P.A.] or their employees or their agents which these defendants concealed either negligently or intentionally." (R. 57-58)

Damiano filed an amended complaint which made no substantive changes as to Dr. McDaniel. (R. 59-96) (The only amendments to the complaint related to claims of concealment by the Blood Center.) After relevant discovery was completed, Dr. McDaniel moved for summary final judgment based on the statute of repose. (R. 97-101)

Numerous memoranda and supplements to the motion were filed and the trial court entertained extensive argument on multiple occasions. (R. 104-108, 147-152, 193-198, 207-210, 268-275) The trial court found that under settled law this claim is time barred and granted summary final judgment in favor of Dr. McDaniel. (R. 276-285) Damiano appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, which agreed that settled law establishes that this claim is barred by the statute of repose. This appeal stems from a certified question contained within the district court's opinion.

#### <u>ISSUE</u>

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION MUST BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE: THE APPLICATION OF THE FOUR-YEAR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF REPOSE COMPLIES WITH ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND MAY VALIDLY BAR A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTION WHERE THE ALLEGED ACT OF MALPRACTICE OCCURS MORE THAN FOUR YEARS BEFORE SUIT IS FILED REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE INJURY IS MANIFESTED WITHIN THE STATUTORY FOUR-YEAR PERIOD.

#### ARGUMENT SUMMARY

The certified question should be answered in the negative. The application of the statute of repose may constitutionally bar an action for medical malpractice where there is no outward manifestation of injury within four years of the date of the alleged negligent treatment.

Four factually identical cases have determined the precise legal issue raised in this case. Each decision has held that a claim of medical malpractice filed more than four years after receipt of tainted blood is constitutionally barred by the statute of repose even where the infection cannot be discovered earlier. These cases are in complete accord with numerous decisions of the Florida Supreme Court that hold that the statute of repose may constitutionally bar any medical malpractice claim even where the alleged negligent act could not reasonably been discovered within that period of time. Those decisions apply here, especially in light of the unrefuted evidence that the Damianos discovered the HIV infection before the repose period expired. Damiano's position is groundless and is based solely upon dissenting opinions and/or irrelevant product liability case law.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE CERTIFIED QUESTION MUST BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE: THE APPLICATION OF THE FOUR-YEAR MEDICAL MALPRACTICE STATUTE OF REPOSE COMPLIES WITH ARTICLE I, SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND MAY VALIDLY BAR A MEDICAL MALPRACTICE ACTION WHERE THE ALLEGED ACT OF MALPRACTICE OCCURS MORE THAN FOUR YEARS BEFORE SUIT IS FILED REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE INJURY IS MANIFESTED WITHIN THE STATUTORY FOUR-YEAR PERIOD.

Damiano's blood transfusion occurred in 1986. No activity whatsoever

was taken to pursue a claim until six years later, which was at least two years after

the 1990 expiration of the statute of repose.<sup>3</sup>

An unbroken line of cases supports the ruling that Damiano's claim is

barred by the statute of repose.<sup>4</sup> The physician's order for a blood transfusion and

<sup>4</sup>The distinction between a statute of limitations and a statute of repose was succinctly explained by this Court in the case of *University of Miami v. Bogorff*, 583 So.2d 1000, 1003 (Fla. 1991): "In contrast to a statute of limitation, a statute of repose precludes a right of action after a specified time which is measured from the incident of malpractice. . . rather than establishing a time period within which the action must be brought measured from the point in time when the cause of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The applicable statute of limitations and statute of repose in medical malpractice actions are contained in Section 95.11(4), Florida Statute, which provides, in pertinent part,

<sup>(</sup>b) An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within two years from the time the incident is discovered or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than four years from the date of the incident or occurrence out of which the cause of action accrued. . ...

the receipt of the contaminated blood is the incident of alleged malpractice. This Court has repeatedly stated that these actions constitute the "incident" which begins the repose period. *Carr v. Broward County*, 541 So.2d 93 (Fla. 1989) ("the incident of malpractice begins the period of repose in a malpractice case"); *University of Miami v. Bogorff*, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991) ("in contrast to a statute of limitation, a statute of repose precludes a right of action after a specified time which is measured from the incident of malpractice"); *Kush v. Lloyd*, 616 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1992) ("a statute of repose, which is usually longer in length [than a statute of limitation], runs from the date of a discreet act on the part of the defendant without regard to when the cause of action occurred."); *Harriman v. Nemeth*, 616 So.2d 433 (Fla. 1993) (same).

The statute of repose has been applied in several factually identical cases involving transmittal of the HIV virus in a blood transfusion. In each instance, the appellate court held that the statute of repose applies despite the fact that the plaintiff may not have known of the injury until after the expiration of the repose period. *Whigham v. Shands Teaching Hosp.*, 613 So.2d 110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) ("Florida's statute of repose, applicable here, was 'triggered' by the incident occurring in 1983, that incident being Whigham's receipt of AIDS tainted blood. Knowledge of the injury or negligence is not a factor affecting the running of the four-year period of repose."); *Padgett v. Shands Teaching Hosp.*, 616 So.2d 467

action accrued."

(Fla. 1st DCA 1993) ("appellant's action is based upon the hospital's provision of a blood transfusion which resulted in the deceased contracting AIDS which was traced to the presence of HIV virus in that transfusion. Appellant argues that the statutory period did not run until such time as she should have known of the injury or, in the alternative, that the statute resulted in an unconstitutional denial of access to the courts. Both of these arguments were rejected [by the Florida Supreme Court]. We therefore affirm the dismissal."); *Doe v. Shands Teaching Hosp.*, 614 So.2d 1170 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); *Dampf v. Furst*, 624 So.2d 368 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), *rev. denied* 634 So.2d 623 (Fla. 1994).

The constitutionality of the statute of repose in the precise situation presented by the instant case has been discussed in detail in the case of *Whigham*,  $supra^5$ . As the *Whigham* court explained, this Court has repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of the four-year statute of repose even where there is no knowledge of either injury or negligence within that time period. The *Whigham* court noted that in the case of *Kush v. Lloyd, supra*, this Court stated that knowledge of either the injury or the allegedly negligent act does not affect the running of the four-year period of repose. This decision repeats numerous other rulings by this Court that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Damiano engages in pure conjecture when speculating about the reason this Court accepted the *Whigham* case for review. Research does not disclose any indication that this Court suddenly intended to reverse a long and unbroken line of case law upholding the constitutionality and applicability of the medical malpractice statute of repose (especially where many of these cases had specifically refused to apply the product liability repose provision to health care providers) in favor of following a product liability analysis.

"the statutory repose period for medical malpractice actions does not violate the constitutional mandate of access to the courts, even when applied to a cause of action which did not accrue until after the period had expired." *Bogorff, supra* at 1004. Even before ruling in *Bogorff*, this Court disapproved of a district court's decision<sup>6</sup> which had held that the statute of repose could not bar a medical negligence action where the record "did not conclusively show that the alleged medical malpractice was or should have been discovered within four years of its commission." *Carr, supra* at 94. The *Carr* court specifically addressed and affirmed the constitutionality of the medical negligence statute of repose even where the injury could not be discovered within the repose period.

In *Kush*, *supra*, the court again considered the relationship between the statute of limitations and a statute of repose. The court noted that:

a statute of limitations begins to run upon the accrual of a cause of action accept where there are provisions which defer the running of the statute in cases of fraud or where the cause of action cannot be reasonably be discovered. On the other hand, a statute of repose, which is usually longer in length, runs from the date of a discreet act on the part of the defendant without regard to when the cause of action accrued.

Id. at 418.

The Court noted that a statute of repose may permissibly eliminate a cause of action before it even accrues. The Court explained that "a medical malpractice

<sup>6</sup>Phelan v. Hanft, 471 So.2d 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

statute of repose represents a legislative determination that there must be an outer limit beyond which medical malpractice suits may not be instituted. In creating a statute of repose which was longer that the two-year statute of limitations, the legislature attempted to balance the rights of injured persons against the exposure of health care providers to liability for endless periods of time." *Kush, supra* at 421-422. This same holding was again reiterated in the case of *Public Health Trust v. Menendez,* 584 So.2d 567, 568 (Fla. 1991) in which the Florida Supreme Court stated that the repose period bars "any and all claims brought more than four years after the actual incident, even for acts of negligence that could not reasonably have been discovered within this period of time." Most recently, this Court declined to review the same ruling announced in the factually identical case of Dampf v. Furst, 624 So.2d 368 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994), *rev. denied*, 634 So.2d 623 (Fla. 1994) (where blood transfusion occurs in 1984, suit filed within two years of the 1990 discovery of HIV virus is barred by the statute of repose).

Florida Statutes Section 95.11(4) permits no exception to the running of the repose. The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly stated that this statute is constitutional and that "this Court is not authorized to second guess the legislature's judgment." *Kush, supra* at 422; *Carr, Bogorff, supra*.

Despite Damiano's representation, this is not a case of first impression by this Court, although admittedly, this Court has not ruled on a case where a claim of HIV infection from a blood transfusion has been time-barred. However, this Court has considered and acknowledged the constitutional application of the statute

of repose in a variety of medical negligence actions where the manifestation of the injury does not occur before expiration of the statute of repose and this Court has repeatedly reiterated that the incident of treatment is the repose trigger.

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